STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 07 2016

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001727

Adele J. Pope..... Appellant,

v.

Alan Wilson, in his capacity as Attorney General of South Carolina, and
James Brown Legacy Trust, by Russell Bauknight, its Trustee..... Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adam T. Silvernail (Bar No. 80219)
Law Office of Adam T. Silvernail, LLC
1905 Marion Street (29201)
Post Office Box 7995
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-7995
(803) 779-1770
adam@silvernailfirm.com

Counsel for Appellant

Statement of Issues on Appeal

- I. DISMISSAL WAS ERROR AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE BOTH THE AG AND THE LEGACY TRUST ARE PUBLIC BODIES UNDER FOIA
- II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT FOIA IS CONTROLLED BY DISCOVERY IN CIVIL CASES
- III. THE LOWER COURTS' TRANSFER, DELAY AND DISMISSAL OF A 2011 FOIA SUIT WHERE SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATE DENIED APPELLANT'S FOIA, DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS
- IV. APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES UNDER FOIA BECAUSE PUBLIC BODIES DID NOT COMPLY WITH HER FOIA REQUEST

Statement of the Case

This action, brought by Appellant under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, et seq. ("FOIA"), was filed in Newberry County on August 3, 2011. [Comp., p.1.]

Appellant is a citizen and resident of Newberry. [Comp., p. 1]

Respondent Alan Wilson ("AG Wilson") is the Attorney General of South Carolina.

Respondent James Brown Legacy Trust ("Legacy Trust") is a Trust created by former AG Henry McMaster and others. Its trustee is Russell L. Bauknight. [Comp., p. 1]

The complaint asserts that both Respondents are public bodies under FOIA, and both failed to comply with proper FOIA requests made on June 30, 2011. [Comp., pp. 4-5]

The complaint seeks declaratory and injunctive relief under FOIA, including a declaration that the Legacy Trust is a public body; a direction that Respondents must release the requested documents; and a finding that Appellant is entitled to attorney's fees and costs. [Comp., pp. 8-9]

The documents sought under FOIA from the AG are:

All correspondence, email and/or other communications between any member of the Office of the South Carolina Attorney General and Russell L. Bauknight between August 1, 2010 and May 4, 2011 related [to] the value of the assets of the Estate of James Brown and/or the James Brown 2000 Irrevocable Trust.

The documents sought under FOIA from both Respondents are:

The final and all drafts, signed and unsigned, of the James Brown Legacy Trust. [Compl., pp 5-9.]

On September 2, 2011 the AG served a motion to dismiss or strike the complaint. The motion and supporting memoranda referenced Richland County Case 2010-CP-40-4900 [the "Wingate Suit"], a lawsuit filed by the AG and Legacy Trust against Appellant and Robert L. Buchanan, Jr., on May 19, 2010. The AG asserted in part:

Plaintiff is essentially pursuing through the instant suit the same discovery issues that are pending in Case 4900 [the "Wingate Suit"]. Therefore, this case is subject to dismissal under Rule 12(b)(8). [Mot. Dismiss, AG; Memo. AG Supp. Mot dtd. 1/11/12 w/ attached Ord. Dtd. 11/22/11, Newberry Case No. 11-CP-36-379]

On September 6 Appellant served a return and affidavit opposing the motion of the AG to dismiss or strike. Appellant requested an expedited hearing. [Ret. Mot., D., 9/6/11; Affid. Pope, 9/6/11]

On September 12 Appellant served a return to the Legacy Trust's motion to dismiss or strike. [Ret. of Plf., dtd. 9/12/11]

On September 29, 2011 Appellant moved for summary judgment. [Mot. Pl. SJ, 9/29/11] Appellant's summary judgment motion is supported by various affidavits. [Aff. Pope dtd. 9/29/11; Aff. Smith dtd. 12/2/11, w/ attached Draft. Priv. Fdns; Aff. Young dtd. 11/11; Aff. Spence 12/8/11; Aff. Pope dtd. 12/8/11; Aff. Summer, 12/11; Aff. Williams 1/6/11]

Prior to a hearing held on January 11, 2012 the parties served various motions, responses and memoranda supporting their respective positions. [Mot. Strike of AG 10/14/11; Ret. Opps. Mot. Strike.dtd. 9/6/11,11/18/11; Mot. to Strike, AG, 12/22/11; P. Fdns. 1-13; Mem. Supp. Mtn. Dismiss, LT, 1/9/12; Supp. Memo of Legacy Trust, dtd. 1/11/12; Memo. Supp., Affs. Smith & attachments; AG Memo. Ret. Mot.

Strike, dtd. 9/6/11; Aff. Pope, 9/6/11; Aff Williams, 1/6/12; Brief of Plaintiff 1/10/12.]

The January 2012 hearing involved both this FOIA case and a separate FOIA suit filed by Appellant. It was attended both by the AG's counsel of record in this FOIA case and the AG's and Legacy Trust's counsel in the Wingate Suit.

Appellant's counsel argued that transfer to Richland and consolidation with discovery in the Wingate Suit would delay FOIA compliance and treat Appellant differently from other citizens under FOIA because she is being sued by the AG in the Wingate Suit.

When the Court asked the AG to state his position, the AG's FOIA counsel asserted that both FOIA cases, if not dismissed, should be transferred to Richland County and consolidated with the Wingate Suit. [Tr. Hrg. 1/12/2012, p.]

The AG said that the Honorable L. Casey Manning, who was presiding over the Wingate Suit, could decide what Appellant can get under FOIA, in discovery and in any judgment in the Wingate Suit. [Tr. Hg. 1/11/12 pp.27-8]

The AG said that the hurdles to this FOIA litigation had not been added by the AG, but by Appellant by filing the FOIA suit in a county other than Richland. [Hg. Tr., pp. 27-8]

Appellant asserted that it would be unjust to allow the private plaintiffs in the Wingate Suit, who share counsel with the AG, to become involved in Appellant's FOIA rights.

On January 11, 2012, the circuit court issued a Form 4 Order transferring venue of this case to Richland County. [Hg. Transc. p. 32; Ord. Dtd. 1/11/12]

On February 1, 2012 the AG moved to consolidate this case with the Wingate Suit. [Pl. Brief. Opp Mot. Consol. Dtd. 3/14/12] Appellant opposed the consolidation. [Brief. Op., dtd. 3/14/12.]

On March 15, 2013 the Legacy Trust filed a motion to stay related to the first opinion in *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013) [Motion to Stay, 3/15/13]

On March 27, 2013 Appellant filed a status report and memorandum of law asking the lower court to proceed with this FOIA action. [Plf. Status Report, 3/27/13]

Between May 2013 and May 2016 Appellant made numerous requests for a hearing in this FOIA matter. [Ltrs. Silvernail, dtd. 4/21/15 and 1/29/16] During this period the AG, through Wingate Suit counsel, sought to have all James Brown Richland County matters stayed pending the outcome of James Brown litigation in Aiken County. [Ltr. Wingate 3/27/13] No hearing was held.

On May 17, 2016 a hearing was held before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. [Trans., Hg. p. 1] Between the 2012 and the 2016 hearings, Appellant and Respondents filed various documents in support of their respective positions. [Plf. Brief, dtd. 5/2/2016]

On June 14, 2016 Judge Early issued an order dismissing Appellant's FOIA complaint as to the Legacy Trust and a separate order dismissing the complaint as to the AG. [Ords., 6/14/16]

On June 27, 2016, Plaintiff timely served and filed motions to alter, amend or vacate the dismissal orders. [Mots. Dtd. 6/27/16, AG & LT.]

By Form 4 Orders dated August 10, 2016, the motions to alter, amend or vacate the June 14 orders were denied. [Orders. Dtd. 8/10/16]

This appeal followed.

Statement of Facts

Entertainment icon James Brown died on Christmas Day 2006 leaving the bulk of his \$100 million fortune to the "I Feel Good" Foundation to educate needy students. [P. Fdns. pp. 1, 5.] Brown's 501(c)(3) "I Feel Good" Trust was given more than 850 copyrights and the right to exploit James Brown's famous persona.

In the fall of 2007 the AG entered the James Brown Aiken proceedings to protect the needy student beneficiaries of the "I Feel Good" Foundation. Since then, at least six AG attorneys and six AG staff members have worked on James Brown matters. [P. Fdns., p. 9]

In February 2008 the AG appeared on WIS-TV. When asked if lawsuits filed by some of Brown's claimed heirs would deplete the "I Feel Good" Foundation, the AG said:

There is a concern some could be whittled away, but we think there is so much money involved because the name is so big and the rights to his image really valuable. We're trying to look at this in the long term. [Aff. Pope, 9/12/11, P. 6]

On August 10, 2008 the AG brokered a settlement which the South Carolina Supreme Court later described as a "total dismemberment of Brown's carefully crafted estate plan." *Wilson* at 445, 746 S.E.2d at 764.

The AG and settling parties agreed to create a new trust called the James Brown Legacy Trust ("Settlement Entity"), which would "receive, hold, manage and be authorized to sell the James Brown assets." The trustee and any successor trustee

for the Settlement Entity was to be selected solely by the AG. *Id.* at 421, 743 S.E.2d at 752.

The settling parties agreed to surrender any intellectual property rights to Brown's music or persona created under federal copyright laws or laws for heirs to the Legacy Trust. *Id.* at 421, 743 S.E.2d 752.

The settling parties agreed the settlement would be a binding private agreement whether or not approved by a court. *Id.* at 422, 743 S.E.2d 753. Bauknight became trustee of the Legacy Trust in late 2008 or early 2009. He continues to serve today.

On May 26, 2009 the circuit court approved the AG's settlement and replaced Brown's fiduciaries, Appellant and Buchanan, with Bauknight. Buchanan and Appellant appealed.

On May 19, 2010, the AG and the Legacy Trust sued Buchanan and Appellant in Richland County seeking tens of millions of dollars. As relevant to this and other FOIA matters, the AG claimed Buchanan and Appellant should not have appealed the AG's settlement; should have accepted a \$100 million offer for Brown's assets; and lacked knowledge about copyright law. [Comp., p. 2, 4]

The AG, Legacy Trust and settling parties share a private lawyer in the Wingate Suit. [Comp., Ex. D]

In 2010 Bauknight, supported by the AG, told the IRS James Brown's music empire was worth only \$4.7 million at Brown's death, and Brown's gift to the "I Feel Good" Charity under \$3 million. [Comp., p. 2, 4]

In December 2010 AG McMaster and others secretly amended the Legacy Trust. [Conf. & Amend.]

In April 2011, Wm. Jeffrey Smith and Appellant circulated a draft of *Private Foundation, Copyright Heirs, and Musical Millionaires: Why the James Brown "I Feel Good" Trust doesn't...* for review by professionals. *Private Foundations* explored how the AG's misreading of the Sections 203 and 304 of the Federal Copyright Act, the "Termination Rights" provisions, combined with a devaluation of Brown's music empire, would leave the "I Feel Good" Charity with almost nothing. [Prv. Fdns., pp. 1-12]

In May 2011 the AG and Bauknight began making the public claim that Buchanan and Appellant had intentionally overstated the value of Brown's assets to the IRS by \$79 million for the improper purpose of securing a \$5 million commission for their service under Brown's estate plan. [Comp., p. 4]

The AG's claimed \$4.7 million value was less than 1/15 the true value of Brown's assets. If the AG's claims had been true, they could have ended Buchanan's and Appellant's legal careers and exposed them to being charged with a federal felony. *See* 26 U.S.C.A. § 7206.

On June 30, 2011, without knowing of the Legacy Trust amendment, Appellant made the FOIA requests which are the subject of this appeal. Appellant seeks the \$4.7 million appraisal and related documents. These are the documents used by the AG in making the claim to the Supreme Court in 2011 that Brown's "I Feel Good" Charity, after \$2 million to educate some of Brown's own grandchildren, had a value of only

about \$1 million when Brown died-- not the \$80 million shown on Brown's estate tax return as filed. [Compl., p. 1 - 5]

From both Respondents Appellant seeks all signed and unsigned copies of the Legacy Trust, its 2011 amendment, and any other amendments.

On July 15, 2011 the Legacy Trust declined to comply with the FOIA request.

Counsel for the Legacy Trust responded in part:

In the event that you continue to file unnecessary discovery and/or FOIA requests, please be advised that the Trust and Estate will have no other choice than to file an action against you for abuse of process or sanctions. [Black ltr. 7/15/11.]

The AG failed to timely produce the requested documents.

Appellant filed this suit on August 3, 2011. She incorporates the Statement of the Case herein.

In the six years between the FOIA requests and the dismissal order, the AG did not release the \$4.7 million appraisal; the Legacy Trust documents, or the related documents to support his \$4.7 million claim. Nor has the Legacy Trust released the requested documents.

On May 8, 2013 the South Carolina Supreme Court found that there was no reasonable basis for the undue influence claims asserted by Brown's will contestants other than as a means to dismantle Brown's estate plan. They found that the result of the AG's settlement was to enable those who were disinherited to obtain Brown's assets to the detriment of the charitable entity Brown so fervently desired. The Court found that the AG's settlement was an "unprecedented misdirection of the AG's authority in estate cases." *Wilson* at 445, 743 S.E.2d at 764.

The Court found that Brown's oft-repeated intent was to leave the bulk of his estate to charity for the education of needy children, as well as to provide up to \$2 million for the education of his own family members. It found that the AG's plan subverted that stated desire.

The Supreme Court found that Brown had gone to "remarkable lengths to protect his right to designate the appropriate legacy for his life's work, including having numerous provisions in his estate documents and informing family members of his intentions in advance." *Wilson* at 439, 743 S.E.2d at 762.

The Supreme Court did not, however, void the Legacy Trust. The Legacy Trust continues to act, and to hold the Termination Rights and other assets of the settling parties.

Since May 8, 2013, the AG and Legacy Trust have continued the Wingate Suit with and for the benefit of the parties to the AG's settlement.

In 2015 a sale of three of the approximately 850 copyrights Brown devised to the "I Feel Good" Charity was conducted. From the sale, \$1 million was distributed to Legacy Trust beneficiary Tommie Rae, even though her claim to be Brown's spouse is disputed by James Brown's estate. Another \$1 million was distributed to other will contestants. The AG continues to support Bauknight's actions, despite these payments. [Mot. Alter or Amend, p. 2]

Ten years after James Brown's death, not a single James Brown "I Feel Good" scholarship has been awarded. The AG and Legacy Trust formed to dismember the "I Feel Good" Charity are still jointly pursuing Richland 4900. A sale of just three of Brown's 850+ songs has put \$2 million in the pockets of will contestants. Yet the AG

and Bauknight continue to assert that Brown's music empire was worth less than \$4.7 million when Brown died.

For more than half of the ten years since Brown died the media and public, along with Appellant, have been denied access under FOIA to the public documents used by the AG to value the James Brown assets he controlled, through his public office, from 2009 until 2013.

Argument

I. DISMISSAL WAS ERROR AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE BOTH THE AG AND THE LEGACY TRUST ARE PUBLIC BODIES UNDER FOIA.

a. Summary Judgment in favor of Appellant, not dismissal, was appropriate as to both Respondents.

The Circuit Court noted in its Order that Respondent AG had moved for judgment on the pleadings. Nonetheless, the Order subsequently dismissed the entire action without clarifying whether the ruling is based on Rule 12(b)(6) or Rule 12(c).

A trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss will be sustained only if the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law. If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper. *Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 515, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826 (2009). In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief. *Id.* "The trial court and [the appellate Court] on appeal must presume all

well pled facts to be true. "*Morrow Crane Co. v. T.R. Tucker Constr. Co.*, 296 S.C. 427, 429, 373 S.E.2d 701, 702 (Ct.App. 1988). "[P]leadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. Further, a judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts." *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991).

The complaint alleges that Appellant is a citizen of South Carolina. It alleges that the AG and the Legacy Trust are both public bodies under FOIA. It further alleges that Appellant made a proper request for certain public documents; that the Legacy Trust refused compliance; and that the AG did not timely comply. Five years after the complaint was filed there is nothing in the record to show that either the AG or the Legacy Trust ever complied.

Despite the AG's seeking judgment on the pleadings and the Legacy Trust's seeking dismissal under Rule 12, substantial evidence was presented to the Circuit Court outside the pleadings, including affidavits.

Under FOIA, dismissal was inappropriate. Summary judgment with legal fees and costs should have been granted. Further, it should have been granted years ago when first requested.

The FOIA's importance is clear from Section 1 of the Act.

The General Assembly finds that it is vital in a democratic society that public business be performed in an open and public manner so that citizens shall be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public activity and the formulation of public policy. Toward this end, provisions of this chapter must be construed so as to make it possible for citizens, or their representatives, to learn and report fully the activities of their public officials at a minimum of cost or delay to the persons seeking access to public documents or meetings. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15.

The AG's own interpretation of the FOIA supports the relief sought in the complaint: when in doubt, release the document. *Public Official's Guide to Compliance with South Carolina's Freedom of Information Act*, S.C. Press Ass'n.

"Public body" under the FOIA includes "... any organization supported in whole or in part by public funds or expecting public funds..." The AG does not deny he is a public body under FOIA. As set out more fully below, and stated in the complaint, the Legacy Trust is a public body. [Comp. p. 1].

Appellant is clearly a "person" under FOIA. Under FOIA any person has a right to inspect or copy any public record of a public body. S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-30(a). The complaint and attached FOIA requests make clear that Appellant properly requested inspection of the public documents at issue.

A public body, upon written request for records made under FOIA shall within fifteen days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays and legal and public holidays) of the receipt of a FOIA request notify the person making such request of its determination and the reasons therefor. S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-30(c).

The Legacy Trust notified Appellant it would not comply because it claimed it was not a public body. The AG failed to timely respond. As the complaint states, the AG violated FOIA by not responding, and the Legacy Trust misinterpreted FOIA.

Under S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-40, a public body may, but is not required to, exempt from disclosure certain information such as trade secrets, correspondence or work products of legal counsel for a public body and any other material that would violate attorney-client relationships.

In this case, there is no evidence in the complaint or the record that either the AG or the Legacy Trust took appropriate action to assert such exemptions. On the contrary, the AG's and Legacy Trust's continuing to be Co-Plaintiffs in Richland 4900 with Tommie Rae and other will contestants seeking to set aside the "I Feel Good" Charity for more than three years after *Wilson v. Dallas* makes clear the AG and his Legacy Trust waived any privilege that may have existed.

As the complaint states, when the AG failed to comply with Appellant's valid FOIA request, and the AG's Legacy Trust refused, Appellant's statutory remedy was clear:

Any citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for either or both a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases as long as such application is made no later than one year following the date on which the alleged violation occurs ... The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate, and a violation of this chapter must be considered to be an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists. S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-100. [Emphasis supplied.]

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