**RECEIVED**

**Oct 03 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas  
Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000518

---

Adele J. Pope. . . . . Appellant,

v.

Alan Wilson, in his capacity as Attorney General of South Carolina,. . . . . Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ATTORNEY GENERAL**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

ROBERT D. COOK  
Solicitor General  
S.C. Bar No. 1373

J. EMORY SMITH, JR.  
Deputy Solicitor General  
S.C. Bar No. 5262

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3680  
(803)734-3677 (Fax)  
esmith@scag.gov

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

Section 30-4-30(c) is very plain in limiting duties to respond to FOIA requests to receipt of a written request. (“(c) Each public body, upon written request for records made under this chapter, shall within fifteen days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays, and legal public holidays) of the

---

<sup>2</sup> Ms. Meyer’s letter of August 5, 2011 stated that she had been “notified by attorneys in the Civil Division of the . . . Office of the Attorney General . . . that [Appellant] refer[red] to a request dated June 30, 2011 in a motion filed by [her] in a South Carolina circuit court case.” R. VII, p. 475. Referral is not receipt.

receipt of any such request notify the person making such request of its determination and the reasons therefor.” (emphasis added). As recounted above in the Statement of Facts, the Office of the Attorney General never received the FOIA request by mail or delivery. Attaching the request to this lawsuit over alleged failure respond to the request, is not sufficient to require a response under FOIA.

Appellant says that the Attorney General admitted that a copy of the letter was mailed to Sweeny Wingate and Barrow, but his Answer denied that doing so was compliant with the statute which requires that the agency receive the letter. Although Plaintiff refers to a “Wingate Contract [that] requires Wingate to notify the AG of a FOIA request and respond to it,” she does not cite to or apparently designate any signed “Contract” Moreover, such a “Contract” would not apply because the letter was addressed only to the “Custodian of Records” at the Office of the Attorney General. Furthermore, SWB was not authorized to receive and respond to FOIA requests directed to the Attorney General.<sup>3</sup>

The authority to sue under FOIA is limited to actions “to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases . . . .” §30-4-100. Therefore, no basis exists for enforcement when no “receipt of written request” has occurred (§30-4-30(c)), and subject matter jurisdiction is lacking. *Gasparutti v. U.S.*, 22 F.Supp.2d 1114, 1116 (C.D.Cal.,1998).

Appellant tries to distinguish *Gasparutti* and claims that the Attorney General and Judge Newman relied on the decision. They cited the decision, but the Order in this case is based upon

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant’s FOIA Request does not reference case 4900, and she opposed consolidation of that case with this one. Appellant’s Brief at p. 4. She cannot, therefore, claim that SWB had any authority to respond to FOIAs for the Attorney General based upon the firm’s work in case 4900.

the facts of this case and the statute. *Gasparutti* is simply consistent. Contrary to Appellant's suggestion, that decision's applicability here is not based upon exhaustion of administrative remedies. *Gasparutti* dismissed that FOIA suit because the Plaintiff had "failed to allege a request, refusal and exhaustion of his administrative remedies." *Id.* (emphasis added). Specifically, he had "failed to make a formal request for documents from the IRS pursuant to FOIA prior to filing this action . . . ." As that Order found:

In order to maintain a judicial action under FOIA, a plaintiff must first request documents from an administrative agency and if his request for documents is refused must exhaust his administrative remedies before filing a court action. *U.S. v. Steele*, 799 F.2d 461, 465–66 (9th Cir.1986) ("The complainant must request specific information in accordance with published administrative procedures and have the request improperly refused before that party can bring a court action under the FOIA."). Where a plaintiff has not complied with these procedures, district courts lack jurisdiction over the claim under the exhaustion doctrine and will dismiss the claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* at 466.

The decision is entirely consistent with the circuit court's order and a plain reading of South Carolina's FOIA. Appellant jumbles various irrelevant arguments in an effort to avoid *Gasparutti* but fails. South Carolina law requires that the FOIA request be received, and it was not in this instance.

Ignoring the Meyers affidavit and without any contrary evidence, Appellant says that "it is undisputed that the AG received the June 30, 2011 FOIA request more than ten (10) years ago . . . ." Of course, that statement is incorrect. What is undisputed in the Record is that the Attorney General never received the FOIA request pursuant to South Carolina's statute. Attaching it to a lawsuit is not compliant with the statute, and the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction of this case.

## II

### **THIS CASE IS MOOT, AND APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO DOCUMENTS HELD BY THE SWB FIRM AND THE FORMER LEGACY TRUST**

Subject to the jurisdictional ground above and other defenses, the Office of the Attorney General has responded to the FOIA at issue in this case by providing copies of the only documents that could be considered responsive to that request which are unsigned draft of the Legacy Trust which have long been of public record in *Wilson v. Dallas, supra*, a case in which Appellant was a party. *See*, Statement of Facts, *supra*. Therefore, this case is moot. *Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc.*, 630 S.E.2d 474, 478, 369 S.C. 20, 26 (2006)(case moot when requested documents provided).<sup>4</sup>

Although Appellant complains that the above production was belated, she points to no documents that have not been provided other than any that might be held by the Sweeny, Wingate and Barrow law firm or the Legacy Trust.<sup>5</sup> She contends that any documents held by SWB are “owned by the State/ AG” under the “Litigation Retention Agreement” and §30-4-20(c), but she has not designated any signed “Agreement.”<sup>6</sup> Plaintiff is not entitled to SWB documents under

---

4 In the first appeal in this case, this Court found that Appellant’s suit was not moot because she challenged the claim that the Attorney General had supplied her with all the responsive documents. *Pope v. Wilson*, No. 2016-001727, 2019 WL 2524420, at \*3 (S.C. Ct. App. June 19, 2019). In this second appeal, this Court may now find this case moot because Appellant does not contest that the Attorney General had supplied her with all of the documents and focuses instead on the Sweeny, Wingate and Barrow documents. Because, as discussed in the next paragraph, Appellant’s request does not reach SWB documents, this Court may find this case moot.

5 In a memorandum she filed for the November 2, 2020 hearing in this case (R. VII, p. 682, Memo at page 2), Appellant referred to a redacted letter and an email as being responsive, but they were not responsive as explained in the Attorney General’s memorandum for the same hearing (R. VII, p. 750 (Memo at page 6)).

6 Plaintiffs’ Complaint referred only to the form retention agreements and not any with the SWB firm. R. VI, p. 47 (Complaint, ¶¶ 20 and 22).

any provision of law because her FOIA request is directed solely to the “Custodian of Records” at the Office of the Attorney General. The FOIA request, itself, does not ask for SWB documents. Therefore, her Complaint’s request that “the AG should direct the Wingate firm and all special counsel to comply with their FOIA duties with respect to the Legacy Trust” is not supported by her FOIA request. Moreover, SWB would not have any documents as to her second request, *supra*, “for correspondence, email and/or other communications between any member of the Office of the . . . Attorney General and Russell L. Bauknicht related to . . . the value of assets . . . .”<sup>7</sup> The Attorney General would be the party to any such documents if they existed, and the Office of the Attorney General does not have any.

For the first time, Appellant appears to request that the Attorney General produce documents held by the former Defendant Legacy Trust. See Appellant’s Brief at page 36. This argument is not properly before this Court as it was not raised in the Complaint, was not the subject of a ruling by Judge Newman and was not raised in Appellant’s Motion to Alter or Amend. Therefore, having not raised and preserved this issue below, it is not properly the subject of this appeal. *Garrison v. Target Corp.*, 435 S.C. 566, 588, 869 S.E.2d 797, 810 (2022)(“*Foster v. Foster*, 393 S.C. 95, 99, 711 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2011) (‘In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must both raise that issue to the trial court and obtain a ruling.’); *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (‘If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant cites a June letter from SWB counsel to her attorney as showing “that documents sought in this FOIA case related to the \$4.7 million appraisal do exist.” That letter was from counsel for multiple parties and does not show that the Office of the Attorney General had such documents.

alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.’)).” Appellant’s FOIA request did not even raise this issue as it was directed to the Custodian of Records of the Office of the Attorney General, and she did not request that he produce records held by the Legacy Trust. Instead, she sent a separate FOIA request to the “Custodian of Records of the Legacy Trust” (R. VII, p. 480), and that party was dismissed from this case by this Court’s Opinion in the first appeal.

### III

#### **THE ATTORNEY GENERAL DID NOT ASSERT DISCOVERY EXEMPTIONS ON REMAND**

Appellant asserts that, on remand, at the hearing in this case in November, 2020, the Attorney General argued that pending discovery motions exempted production of the requested documents in the instant case. He did not. Appellant is confusing this case with the remand in the FOIA case consolidated with case 4900, *Bauknight v. Pope*, 2010CP4004900. On remand in the instant case, the Attorney General did not assert such grounds. *See.*, R. VI, p. 745 (Memorandum of AG for 11-2-20).

### IV

#### **APPELLANT’S DUE PROCESS / FOIA DENIAL CLAIM HAS NO MERIT WHATSOEVER AND HER ARGUMENT VI SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN INCLUDED IN HER AMENDED BRIEF**

In her Argument VI, Appellant appears to contend that she was denied the due process of law because she was allegedly denied “an opportunity to be heard on the merits or “in a meaningful manner” prior to a court denying such rights based on “ the Court’s finding that it lacked jurisdiction.” Her position is not correct. The size of the record in this case with

innumerable filings by Appellant and full hearings on remand regarding issues on the merits and on her motion to alter or amend demonstrate that Appellant has been given an exceedingly full opportunity to be heard on the merits as well as on the issue of the lack of receipt of the documents. See, *eg.*, R. VI, p. 20, l. 23 – p. 21, l. 4 (Tr. Transcript, 11-19-20); R. VII, p. 681 (Plaintiff’s Brief Regarding Issues for 11/2/20 hearing). Appellant’s FOIA rights were not denied due to Judge Newman’s finding that the Attorney General’s Office never received her FOIA request. Contrary to her assertion, the Office of the Attorney General never received the request, and therefore, that Office had no duty to respond to it.

Appellant also includes argument about the public importance of her FOIA request although it is irrelevant. Even if her FOIA request had been received, all that would be relevant to her request is whether she is entitled to the documents at issue under the terms of FOIA. That statute does not contain standards of disclosure based upon alleged importance or need. S.C. Code Ann. §§30-4-30 through 30-4-50.

Moreover, the Court should disregard the entirety of Argument VI of her brief as it is a new argument not included in her previous initial brief.<sup>8</sup> Amended Brief of Appellant at pages 39-41. This argument was not included in Appellant’s original initial brief, and was added to the Statement of the Issues in the Amended Brief. Argument VI and the Table of Authorities includes cites to cases and the due process clause that were omitted previously and references to two documents not in the record. The December Order herein granted Respondent’s Motion to

---

<sup>8</sup> The Attorney General moved to strike this argument, including the citations to a document and news article referenced below, in Appellant’s Amended Brief. Although the Court denied that Motion, it made no specific ruling on whether the argument was properly included in the brief. Therefore, to the extent that the Court may consider this issue of the inclusion of this argument, the Attorney General respectfully requests that the Court disregard Appellant’s Argument VI.

Strike Appellant's first brief, and did not authorize Appellant to include new issues and arguments in her amended brief. The instructions were to "serve and file an amended initial brief that shall not include references to the stricken matters." Appellant did not move to include new issues and arguments in her brief.

Appellant suggests that the argument was necessary to present a complete and coherent brief, and that she had mentioned due process in her original brief. These arguments are specious. The original brief's passing, short references to the terms "due process" related to other cases such as *Bauknight v. Pope*, 2010CP1004900. She did not cite the due process clause in her Table of Authorities in that brief. Argument VI is, instead, a three page argument about due process focused on this appeal. It is a new argument with a new issue in her brief, and it is completely unnecessary to comply with the Order striking the original brief. The term "due process" is not even referenced in her Complaint in this case. Appellant's including Argument VI is an inappropriate use of the privilege of being permitted to file an amended brief. It is neither contemplated by the Order striking her brief nor the Appellate Court rules. As noted, she did not move to include the new argument in her amended brief.

Appellant also references a document in Argument VI which is not in the Record. In her response to Respondent's Motion to Strike her Amended Brief, she admitted that her Return to Motion for Extension in *Wilson v. Dallas* was not presented to the Circuit Court and not designated. Instead, she said she included quotes from the Return in other filings below, but her brief does not refer to the documents in which they are contained. This citation and the related sentence should be disregarded.

She also cites a news article cited in footnote 12 of her brief to support an allegation that the

value of James Brown's assets are of public importance today. According to the footnote, the article references the sale of James Brown's music catalog. That information was not presented to the Circuit Court, and Appellant provides no authority to support her assertion that judicial notice should be taken. Consideration of the article is barred by the authority cited by the State in its motion which Appellant does not rebut. *Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Grp.*, 283 S.C. 251, 256, 321 S.E.2d 194, 197 (Ct. App. 1984)("[O]riginal judicial notice of adjudicative facts at the appellate level should be limited to matters which are indisputable . . . appellate courts, limited to the 'cold' record, cannot be as sensitive to the appropriateness of judicial notice as the trial judge."). *Id.*

Appellant's Argument VI and the above referenced citations should be disregarded.

## V

### **APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES**

If Judge Newman's Order is affirmed, Appellant is not entitled to attorney's fees. If the Order is remanded for further proceedings, as stated in the earlier Opinion of this Court in this case, "the question of attorney's fees is premature." *Pope v. Wilson*, No. 2016-001727, 2019 WL 2524420, at \*4 (S.C. Ct. App. June 19, 2019)

## VI

### **AS AN ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND, THE MOTIONS TO STRIKE SHOULD BE GRANTED**

Although not reached by the circuit court judge, should this Court reach Appellant's other issues, the following additional sustaining ground warrants striking Appellant's numerous affidavits.

Respondent Attorney General moved to strike at least 14 affidavits filed by Appellant in

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